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relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering.
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Anti-corruption – Prevent 
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68

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 
environmental concerns, labor needs, health, 
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Community investment – 
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69
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the focus area.

Community investment – 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

中審眾環（香港）會計師事務所有限公司

To the members of
Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 156, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment of trade 
receivables

At 31 December 2022, the gross amount o f  t rade 
receivables and its related allowance for ECL amounted to 
approx imate ly RMB83,726,000 and RMB7,958,000, 
respectively.

At each reporting date, the management of the Group 
estimates the amount of ECL on trade receivables based 
on provision matrix that is based on historical data and is 
adjusted for forward-looking information of respective trade 
receivables.

The Group’s management bel ieves that they have 
considered reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost and effort for this 
purpose. Such assessment has taken the quantitative and 
q u a l i t a t i v e  h i s t o r i c a l  i n f o r m a t i o n  a n d  a l s o ,  t h e 
forward-looking analysis.

We have ident i f ied the ECL assessments of t rade 
receivables by the Group’s management as a key audit 
matter because the carrying amount of trade receivables 
was significant to the consolidated financial statements and 
the ECL assessment of these balances required significant 
judgement and involved high level of uncertainty.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 20 and 33 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

a)	 U n d e r s t a n d i n g  o f  t h e  G r o u p ’ s  c r e d i t  r i s k 
management and practices and assessing the 
G r o u p ’ s  i m p a i r m e n t  p r o v i s i o n i n g  p o l i c y  i n 
accordance with the requirements of applicable 
accounting standards;

b)	 Eva lua t i ng  the  ob jec t i v i t y ,  capab i l i t i es  and 
competence of the independent professional valuer;

c)	 Test ing the in tegr i ty o f  in format ion used by 
management to develop the provis ion matr ix 
inc luding test ing indiv idual customers’ credi t 
assessment, on a sample basis, through analysing 
their nature, size and past due status with the 
underlying supporting documents and comparing the 
internal credit assessment made by management on 
these customers;

d)	 Evaluating management’s basis and judgement in 
de te rm in ing c red i t  l oss a l l owance on t rade 
receivables and checking the assumptions and key 
parameters to  ex te rna l  da ta sources where 
available;

e)	 Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the 
external information used by the Group as the 
forward-looking information; and

f)	 Checking the calculation of ECL based on the 
methodology adopted by the Group and adequacy of 
the Group’s disclosures in relation of credit risk 
exposed by the Group in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ECL assessment of debt instrument at amortised cost

At 31 December 2022, the gross amount of debt instrument 
at amortised cost and its related allowance for ECL 
a m o u n t e d  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  R M B35 ,458 ,000  a n d 
RMB5,805,000, respectively.

At each reporting date, the management of the Group 
estimates the amount of ECL on debt instrument at 
amortised cost based on credit rating of debt instrument 
and is ad justed for forward- look ing in format ion of 
respective debt instrument at amortised cost.

The Group’s management bel ieves that they have 
considered reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost and effort for this 
purpose. Such assessment has taken the quantitative and 
q u a l i t a t i v e  h i s t o r i c a l  i n f o r m a t i o n  a n d  a l s o ,  t h e 
forward-looking analysis.

We have identified the ECL assessment of debt instrument 
at amortised cost by the Group’s management as a key 
audi t  mat ter because the carry ing amount of debt 
instrument at amort ised cost was signif icant to the 
consolidated financial statements and the ECL assessment 
of the balance required significant judgement and involved 
high level of uncertainty.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 19 and 33 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

a)	 U n d e r s t a n d i n g  o f  t h e  G r o u p ’ s  c r e d i t  r i s k 
management and practices and assessing the 
G r o u p ’ s  i m p a i r m e n t  p r o v i s i o n i n g  p o l i c y  i n 
accordance with the requirements of applicable 
accounting standards;

b)	 Eva lua t i ng  the  ob jec t i v i t y ,  capab i l i t i es  and 
competence of the independent professional valuer;

c)	 Testing the integrity of significant inputs used by 
management in determining ECL;

d)	 Evaluating management’s basis and judgement in 
determining credit loss allowance on debt instrument 
at amortised cost and checking the assumptions and 
key parameters to external data sources where 
available;

e)	 Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the 
external information used by the Group as the 
forward-looking information; and

f)	 Checking the calculation of ECL based on the 
methodology adopted by the Group and adequacy of 
the Group’s disclosures in relation of credit risk 
exposed by the Group in the consolidated financial 
statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 2022 annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

A U D I T O R’S R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S F O R T H E A U D I T O F T H E C O N S O L I D A T E D 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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A U D I T O R’S R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S F O R T H E A U D I T O F T H E C O N S O L I D A T E D 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
Tsoi Wa Shan
Practising Certificate number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 4 397,817 392,982

Cost of sales (333,600) (308,211)    

Gross profit 64,217 84,771

Other income 5 13,511 15,415
Selling and distribution costs (13,795) (14,389)
Administrative and other operating expenses (53,176) (54,857)
Impairment loss of trade receivables, net 33 (3,331) (1,338)
Impairment loss of other receivables 33 (345) (44)
Impairment loss of debt instrument at amortised cost 33 (4,810) (786)
Change in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through  

profit or loss (“FVPL”) (4,124) 812
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 30 (1,356) (804)
Finance costs 6 (2,186) (1,614)    

(Loss) Profit before tax 6 (5,395) 27,166

Income tax credit (expense) 8 2,174 (870)    

(Loss) Profit for the year (3,221) 26,296    

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation of the Company’s financial 

statements to presentation currency 13,780 (2,074)
Change in fair value of equity instrument at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 13 (1,712) (2,246)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference on consolidation (11,756) 2,947    

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 312 (1,373)    

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (2,909) 24,923    

(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (3,147) 26,980
Non-controlling interests (74) (684)    

(3,221) 26,296    

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year  
attributable to:

Owners of the Company (2,835) 25,607
Non-controlling interests (74) (684)    

(2,909) 24,923    

RMB cents RMB cents

(Loss) Earnings per share 9
Basic and diluted (0.56) 5.21    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 88,037 35,051
Intangible assets 12 5,225 5,331
Equity instrument at FVOCI 13 – 14,267
Goodwill 14 1,369 1,369
Deferred tax assets 26 2,174 2,174
Deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights 15 – 21,530    

96,805 79,722    

Current assets
Inventories 17 197,607 276,096
Equity instruments at FVPL 18 4,257 8,885
Debt instrument at amortised cost 19 29,653 31,893
Trade and other receivables 20 115,417 107,177
Restricted bank deposits 21 22,328 21,700
Bank balances and cash 22 85,596 102,443    

454,858 548,194    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 168,894 217,632
Lease liabilities 24 10,592 9,494
Interest-bearing borrowings 25 25,000 39,193
Income tax payable 1,021 3,264    

205,507 269,583    

Net current assets 249,351 278,611    

Total assets less current liabilities 346,156 358,333    

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 24 5,528 16,210
Deferred tax liabilities 26 1,856 1,873    

7,384 18,083    

NET ASSETS 338,772 340,250    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 5,088 5,088
Reserves 333,513 334,992    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 338,601 340,080
Non-controlling interests 171 170    

TOTAL EQUITY 338,772 340,250    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 156 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Mr. Hong Yiyuan Mr. Zhang Zhixiong
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company 
Reserves 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 27) (Note 29(a)) (Note 30) (Note 29(b)) (Note 29(c)) (Note 29(d)) (Note 29(e))

At 1 January 2021 4,315 121,096 – 12,559 21,370 (7,213) – 120,636 272,763 7,235 279,998            

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 26,980 26,980 (684) 26,296

Other comprehensive loss:
Items that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation 

of the Company’s financial 
statements to presentation 
currency – – – – – (2,074) – – (2,074) – (2,074)

Change in fair value of equity 
instrument at FVOCI – – – – – – (2,246) – (2,246) – (2,246)

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on 
consolidation – – – – – 2,947 – – 2,947 – 2,947            

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – – 873 (2,246) 26,980 25,607 (684) 24,923            

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Issue of shares upon the placing 

(Note 27(i)) 773 67,893 – – – – – – 68,666 – 68,666
Transaction costs attributable to 

issue of shares (Note 27(i)) – (695) – – – – – – (695) – (695)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payment expenses 
(Note 30) – – 804 – – – – – 804 – 804

Dividends paid – – – – – – – (20,895) (20,895) – (20,895)
Appropriation of statutory reserve – – – – 2,898 – – (2,898) – – –            

773 67,198 804 – 2,898 – – (23,793) 47,880 – 47,880            

Changes in ownership interests
Acquisition of additional interest in 

a subsidiary (Note 28) – – – – – – – (6,170) (6,170) (6,631) (12,801)
Non-controlling interest arising 

from incorporation of a 
subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 250 250            

– – – – – – – (6,170) (6,170) (6,381) (12,551)            

Total transactions with owners 773 67,198 804 – 2,898 – – (29,963) 41,710 (6,381) 35,329            

At 31 December 2021 5,088 188,294 804 12,559 24,268 (6,340) (2,246) 117,653 340,080 170 340,250            
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company 
Reserves  

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 27) (Note 29(a)) (Note 30) (Note 29(b)) (Note 29(c)) (Note 29(d)) (Note 29(e))

At 1 January 2022 5,088 188,294 804 12,559 24,268 (6,340) (2,246) 117,653 340,080 170 340,250            

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (3,147) (3,147) (74) (3,221)

Other comprehensive income 
(loss):

Items that will not be reclassified  
to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation 
of the Company’s financial 
statements to presentation 
currency – – – – – 13,780 – – 13,780 – 13,780

Change in fair value of equity 
instrument at FVOCI – – – – – – (1,712) – (1,712) – (1,712)

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on 
consolidation – – – – – (11,756) – – (11,756) – (11,756)            

Total comprehensive loss  
for the year – – – – – 2,024 (1,712) (3,147) (2,835) (74) (2,909)            

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Derecognition of financial assets at 

FVOCI upon disposal (Note 13) – – – – – – 3,958 (3,958) – – –
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payment expenses 
(Note 30) – – 1,356 – – – – – 1,356 – 1,356

Appropriation of statutory reserve – – – – 795 – – (795) – – –            

– – 1,356 – 795 – 3,958 (4,753) 1,356 – 1,356            

Changes in ownership interests
Non-controlling interest arising 

from capital contribution of a 
subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 75 75            

Total transactions with owners – – 1,356 – 795 – 3,958 (4,753) 1,356 75 1,431            

At 31 December 2022 5,088 188,294 2,160 12,559 25,063 (4,316) – 109,753 338,601 171 338,772            
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) Profit before tax (5,395) 27,166
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,083 3,276
Reversal of allowance for inventories – (2,310)
Bank interest income (1,185) (1,896)
Interest income from debt instrument at amortised cost (2,061) (1,880)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13,070 13,243
Finance costs 2,186 1,614
Loss on disposal of equity instruments at FVPL 487 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 7 110
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net 3,331 1,338
Impairment loss on other receivables 345 44
Impairment loss on debt instrument at amortised cost 4,810 786
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 1,356 804
Change in fair value of equity instruments at FVPL 4,124 (812)    

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 24,158 41,483

Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables (840) (5,597)
Inventories 78,489 (91,087)
Trade and other payables (49,600) (12,442)    

Cash generated from (used in) operations 52,207 (67,643)
Income tax paid (86) (3,117)    

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 52,121 (70,760)    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 415 1,194
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (44,529) (1,452)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 25 71
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at FVPL 609 –
Proceeds from disposal of equity instrument at FVOCI 13 4,577 –
Deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights 15 – (21,530)
Acquisition of equity instrument at FVOCI – (16,513)
Acquisition of debt instrument at amortised cost – (33,248)
Acquisition of equity instruments at FVPL – (8,086)
Increase in restricted bank deposits, net (628) (19,700)
Additions to intangible assets (2,977) (3,650)    

Net cash used in investing activities (42,508) (102,914)    



85Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022 Annual Report 2022   Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment for lease liabilities (9,584) (10,631)
Interest paid (2,186) (1,614)
New bank borrowings raised 25,000 39,193
Repayment of bank borrowings (39,193) –
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary – (12,801)
Dividends paid – (20,895)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – (16,660)
Proceeds from issue of shares – 68,666
Payment for transaction costs attributable to issue of shares – (695)   

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (25,963) 44,563   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,350) (129,111)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 102,443 230,416

Effect on exchange rate changes (497) 1,138   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 85,596 102,443   

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash 84,572 101,441
Time deposits with original maturity of less than three months 1,024 1,002   

85,596 102,443   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries are 
collectively referred to as the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 20 December 2017, and its shares were listed on 
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3 June 2020 (the 
“Listing”). The Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand 
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated at Flat C, 21/F, Max 
Share Centre, 373 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in the design and 
production of automated machines for disposable hygiene products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and ultimate holding company is Prestige Name 
International Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The ultimate 
controlling parties are Mr. Hong Yiyuan, Mr. Zhang Zhixiong, Mr. Su Chengya, Mr. He Ziping and Mr. Chang Chi 
Hsung (collectively referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”), who have been acting in concert over the 
course of the Group’s business history.

2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, 
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable 
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing 
Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all amounts have been rounded to 
the nearest thousand (“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

The adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year had no 
significant effects on the financial performance and financial position of the Group for the current and prior years.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs 

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider individual lease contracts to determine whether rent 
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications and allow lessees 
to account for such rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications. It applies to covid-19-related rent 
concessions that reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022. The amendments do not affect lessors.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for proceeds received by an entity from selling items produced 
while testing an item of property, plant or equipment before it is used for its intended purpose. An entity recognises 
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss and measures the cost of 
those items applying the measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of 
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract 
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (for example, direct labour and materials) and an 
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation 
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 
2018. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement for an entity to refer to the Conceptual 
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for some types of 
liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception has 
been added to avoid an unintended consequence of updating the reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

Annual Improvements Project – 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that – for the purpose of performing the “10 per cent test” for derecognition of financial 
liabilities – in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid or received 
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s 
behalf.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. As 
currently drafted, Example 13 is not clear as to why such payments are not a lease incentive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for 
equity instrument at FVOCI and equity instruments at FVPL, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Company using 
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or 
at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of 
non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by 
HKFRSs.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and the 
non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest determined 
at the date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be 
required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, 
joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within these notes, the investment in 
subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its 
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries 
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured at the excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree over the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the 
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or 
loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, 
over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which they are available for use and after taking 
into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant 
and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated 
separately:

Right-of-use assets Over the unexpired terms of lease
Plant and machinery 2 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 3 to 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Construction in progress represents plant and equipment under construction. It is stated at cost less any impairment 
losses, and is not depreciated. The cost includes cost of construction, plant and equipment and other direct costs 
plus borrowing costs which include interest charges and exchange differences arising from foreign currency 
borrowings used to finance these projects during the construction period, to the extent that these are regarded as an 
adjustment to borrowing costs.

Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time as the assets are completed and substantially ready for 
their intended use and transferred to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve the application of 
research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes, 
are capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient 
resources to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an 
expense as incurred. When the asset is available for use, the capitalised development costs are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over a period of 2 to 3 years.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component) are initially recognised at 
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are 
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI”); or (iv) measured at FVPL.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing them, in which 
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the 
change in the business model.

1)	 Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVPL:

(i)	 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

(ii)	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation 
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, debt instrument at 
amortised cost, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash.

2)	 Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the 
fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies in other comprehensive 
income. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value and are not subject to impairment. 
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment. Other gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and shall not be 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred 
directly to accumulated profits or losses.

The Group’s financial assets at Designated FVOCI include equity instrument at FVOCI.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

3)	 Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including 
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL, financial 
assets resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 
applies and financial assets that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair 
value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately from fair value 
gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)	 acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(ii)	 part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii)	 a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVPL include equity instruments at FVPL.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at 
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial 
liabilities, except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be 
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at 
amortised cost issued to which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the 
specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial 
asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the 
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are 
due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the 
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, cash shortfalls are the 
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to 
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If the asset is fully guaranteed, the estimation of cash 
shortfalls for a financial guarantee contract would be consistent with the estimations of cash shortfalls for the asset 
subject to the guarantee.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the following one or 
more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i)	 nature of instrument

(ii)	 past-due status

(iii)	 nature, size and industry of debtors

(iv)	 external credit risk ratings where available

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and 
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or 
loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the 
financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i)	 information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay 
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii)	 there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the 
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome 
of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group 
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate otherwise.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is 
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. 
The Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)	 it has a low risk of default;

(ii)	 the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii)	 adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without a significant financing components or otherwise for which the Group applies the 
practical expedient not to account for the significant financing components, the Group applies a simplified approach 
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has 
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include 
observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset (continued)

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)	 the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual 
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from 
the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate. Any 
subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is the design and production of automated machines for 
disposable hygiene products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and 
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a)	 a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b)	 a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 
transfer to the customer.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Identification of performance obligations (continued)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(a)	 the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are 
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b)	 the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other 
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of the 
contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and 
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a)	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

(b)	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in 
time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs, 
the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sale of automated machines for disposable hygiene products and related components and parts are recognised at a 
point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the 
time when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a 
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the transaction 
price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The effect of the 
significant financing component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from revenue 
from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate 
financing transaction between the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where appropriate, 
the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of the goods or 
services to the amount paid in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group’s borrowing rates 
and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration 
for the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.

Performance obligation: warranties

Sales-related warranties associated with automated machines for disposable hygiene products cannot be purchased 
separately and they serve as an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed‑upon specifications. 
Accordingly, the Group accounts for the warranties in accordance with HKAS 37.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) 
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or 
before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a 
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration 
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a 
contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s 
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is 
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

For the sales of automated machines for disposable hygiene products, and components and parts, it is common for 
the Group to receive from the customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before the services are 
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group 
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant financing 
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the 
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional 
currency is Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and majority of its subsidiaries have RMB as their functional currency. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency of RMB, which is the Company’s presentation 
currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the end of the reporting period.

•	 Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rate.

•	 All resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising from a 
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a 
separate component of equity.

•	 On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a 
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which 
the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences 
relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is 
recognised.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

•	 On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does 
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of 
the exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the 
non-controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

•	 On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result 
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of 
exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, 
where applicable, cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all 
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess 
whether there is any indication that its plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets and construction in 
progress), intangible assets, deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights and the Company’s investment in a 
subsidiary may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows 
independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised 
as income in profit or loss immediately.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a 
provision has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the year in which the expenditures are 
incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income 
account/recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss 
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

The benefit of a government loan received at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant. The 
benefit of the below-market rate of interest shall be measured as the difference between the initial fair value of the 
loan and the proceeds received.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments 
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease 
component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to be part of the total 
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment) and a lease liability at the 
commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(a)	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b)	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c)	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d)	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring 
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless 
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the 
right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option – in which case depreciation is provided 
over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Factories and office premises 2 to 6 years
Leasehold lands 50 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the contract.
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Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the right 
to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a)	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c)	 amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d)	 exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e)	 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily 
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the lease payments 
arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to 
exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in the residual value 
guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change in an index 
or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in 
floating interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 
asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the 
measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or 
loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(a)	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

(b)	 the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.
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Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a)	 the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as 
described above;

(b)	 the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract;

(c)	 the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate over the revised lease term;

(d)	 for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of 
the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full 
termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease 
in profit or loss; and

(e)	 for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a 
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in 
which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group’s 
entities established in Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the employees of the Group’s entities established in the 
PRC are required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local governments. 
Contributions to these plans are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly contributions, 
the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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Share-based payment transaction

Equity-settled transactions – share options

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, 
whereby the employees rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost of such 
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 
The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an staff cost with a corresponding increase in 
a reserve within equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant 
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting 
date”). During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any 
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of 
review, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards that are conditional on a market 
condition or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition or 
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all non-market vesting conditions are satisfied. Where an 
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are 
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described above.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are 
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of the holding company of the Group.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding company, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the Group.

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c)	 dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes 
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to Group’s executive directors for the purpose of 
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical 
locations (if applicable).

Operating segments (if applicable) that meet the quantitative thresholds are not aggregated for financial reporting 
purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of 
products and services, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Other operating segments may be aggregated if they share 
a majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis 
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of plant and equipment, and intangible assets

The management determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s plant and equipment, and intangible assets 
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. 
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could affect the related 
depreciation and amortisation charges included in profit or loss.

Impairment of plant and equipment, intangible assets and deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights

The management determines whether the Group’s plant and equipment, intangible assets, and deposit paid for 
acquisition of land use rights are impaired when an indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of 
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets and construction in 
progress), intangible assets, and deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights which is equal to the higher of fair 
value less cost of disposal or the value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the management to make an 
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets and 
construction in progress), intangible assets, and deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights and also to choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged to 
profit or loss.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the 
Group to make an estimate of the expected cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised costs including, trade 
receivables, other receivable and debt instrument at amortised cost by using various inputs and assumptions 
including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based 
on the Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of 
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the 
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and debt instrument at amortised cost.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of inventories at the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for 
inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The management carries out the 
inventory review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances or reversal allowance by reference to the 
latest market prices and current market conditions.

Income tax

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made. In addition, the realisation of the future income tax assets is dependent on the Group’s 
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits and income tax loss 
carry-forwards, as appropriate. Deviations of future profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result 
in adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that could have a significant effect on results 
and financial position of the Group.
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Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction1

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts1

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 – Comparative Information1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture3

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3	 The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs in future periods 
will have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group has a single operating and reportable segment as the 
Group manages its business as a whole as the design and production of automated machines for disposable 
hygiene products and the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers of the 
Group, regularly review the internal financial reports on the same basis for the purposes of allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the Group. Segment information is not presented accordingly.

Information about geographical areas

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of the Group’s revenue from external 
customers. The geographical location of the revenue is presented based on the location of customers.
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3.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about geographical areas (continued)

Revenue from external customers

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

The PRC 310,214 285,485
The Philippines 35,121 15,408
India 17,854 –
Indonesia 16,219 29,158
Bangladesh 9,101 –
Pakistan 5,846 1,157
South Korea 1,355 27,838
Nigeria 1,354 9,564
Dubai 430 2,367
Uzbekistan 317 6,034
Angola 6 158
Thailand – 8,595
Yemen – 5,390
Vietnam – 1,413
Malaysia – 362
Cambodia – 53   

397,817 392,982   

The non-current assets are based on the physical location of the assets, in the case of property, plant and 
equipment, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, deposit 
paid for acquisition of land use rights and goodwill, and excluded equity instrument at FVOCI and deferred tax 
assets.

Non-current assets

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

The PRC 94,553 63,161
Hong Kong 78 120   

94,631 63,281   

Information about major customers

The Group’s revenue from any single external customers did not contribute 10% or more of the total revenue of the 
Group for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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4.	 REVENUE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers within  
HKFRS 15 – at a point in time

Sales of machines of
– baby diaper 159,520 215,073
– adult diaper 183,976 109,986
– lady sanitary napkin 18,779 44,117
– under-pad 7,035 3,516
– pet diaper 5,841 –
– wet wipe 1,735 –

Sales of components and parts 20,931 20,290   

397,817 392,982   

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 that was included in the contract liabilities 
at the beginning of the year is approximately RMB78,862,000 (Note 22(c)) (2021: RMB77,001,000).

5.	 OTHER INCOME

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank interest income 1,185 1,896
Interest income from debt instrument at amortised cost 2,061 1,880
Exchange gain, net 2,617 382
Government grants (Note) 5,745 8,499
Sale of scrap materials 442 423
Reversal of provision for litigation and claim (Note 35(i)) – 2,000
Others 1,461 335   

13,511 15,415   

Note:	 In the opinion of the management of the Group, there was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the government 
grants.
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6.	 (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Finance costs
Interest on bank borrowings 1,315 314
Finance charges on lease liabilities 871 1,300   

2,186 1,614   

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration
Salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and other benefits in kind 38,148 40,205
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 1,356 804
Contributions to defined contribution plans 7,471 6,869   

46,975 47,878
Less: capitalised as “intangible assets” (762) (1,017)   

46,213 46,861   

Other items
Cost of inventories (Note (i)) 333,600 308,211
Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit service 1,202 1,078
– Non-audit service 180 191
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,083 3,276   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  
(included in “cost of sales” and “administrative and  
other operating expenses”, as appropriate) 13,070 13,243

Less: capitalised as “intangible assets” (47) (54)
Less: capitalised as “construction in progress” (477) –   

12,546 13,189   

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 7 110
Reversal of allowance for inventories (included in “cost of sales”) – (2,310)
Realised loss on disposal of equity instruments at FVPL (Note (ii)) 487 –   
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6.	 (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

This is stated after charging (crediting):

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Research and development expenses 26,561 31,986
Less: capitalised as “intangible assets” (Note (iii)) (2,977) (3,650)   

23,584 28,336   

Notes:

(i)	 During the year ended 31 December 2022, cost of inventories included approximately RMB31,458,000 (2021: approximately 
RMB29,547,000), relating to the aggregate amount of reversal of allowance for inventories, certain staff costs and 
depreciation, which were included in the respective amounts as disclosed above.

(ii)	 During the year ended 31 December 2022, realised loss on disposal of equity instruments at FVPL represented the 
proceeds from the disposal of listed equity securities of approximately HK$709,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB609,000) (2021: Nil) less relevant costs and carrying value of the listed equity securities sold of approximately 
HK$1,276,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,096,000) (2021: Nil).

(iii)	 During the year ended 31 December 2022, capitalised intangible assets included approximately RMB809,000 (2021: 
approximately RMB1,017,000), relating to the staff costs and depreciation which were included in the respective amounts 
as disclosed above.
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the following directors were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries 
allowances 

and other 
benefits 

in kind
Discretionary 

bonuses

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
plans Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors
Mr. Hong Yiyuan 258 300 25 386 80 1,049
Mr. Zhang Zhixiong 129 174 15 193 62 573
Mr. Su Chengya 129 227 18 193 77 644
Mr. He Ziping 129 382 30 193 80 814

Non-executive director
Mr. Chang Chi Hsung 129 – – – – 129

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chan Ming Kit 129 – – – – 129
Mr. Ng Tat Fung 129 – – – – 129
Dr. Wang Fengxiang 6 – – – – 6       

1,038 1,083 88 965 299 3,473       
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries 
allowances 

and other 
benefits 

in kind
Discretionary 

bonuses

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
plans Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors
Mr. Hong Yiyuan 249 289 25 229 70 862
Mr. Zhang Zhixiong 124 174 15 114 59 486
Mr. Su Chengya 124 145 12 114 49 444
Mr. He Ziping 124 183 15 114 61 497

Non-executive director
Mr. Chang Chi Hsung 124 – – – – 124

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chan Ming Kit 124 – – – – 124
Mr. Ng Tat Fung 124 – – – – 124
Dr. Wang Fengxiang 6 – – – – 6       

999 791 67 571 239 2,667       

Apart from being appointed as executive director, Mr. Hong Yiyuan is also the chief executive officer of the 
Group, and his emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by him as chief executive 
officer during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive director’s emoluments and independent 
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No directors waived 
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b)	 Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 included four (2021: 
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are reflected in the analysis presented above. Details of the 
remuneration of the one (2021: one) highest paid non-director individuals whose emoluments are disclosed 
as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 310 333
Discretionary bonuses 25 25
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 9 5
Contributions to defined contribution plans 88 67   

432 430   

The number of this non-director individual whose emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is as 
follows:

Number of individuals 
2022 2021

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1   

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of this 
highest paid non-director individual as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation 
for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any of this highest paid non-director individual 
waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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8.	 INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax
PRC Enterprise Income Tax – current year 958 2,983
Hong Kong Profits Tax – current year 15 5
Over-provision in prior year (3,130) –   

(2,157) 2,988

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 26) (17) (2,118)   

Income tax (credit) expense for the year (2,174) 870   

The Group’s entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a statutory rate of 25% 
except for 晉江海納機械有限公司 (Jinjiang Haina Machinery Co. Ltd*) (“Jinjiang Haina”) and 杭州海納機械有限公司 
(Hangzhou Haina Machinery Co. Ltd*) (“Hangzhou Haina”) were recognised as High and New Technology 
Enterprises and are entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15%. The entitlement of this tax benefit is subject to renewal 
by respective tax bureau in the PRC every three years. The latest approvals for Jinjiang Haina and Hangzhou Haina 
enjoying this tax benefit were obtained in December 2022 for the three years ending 31 December 2025 and in 
December 2020 for the three years ending 31 December 2023, respectively.

The Group’s entities incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are exempted from income tax.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance with the 
two-tiered profits tax rates regime under which, the first HK$2 million assessable profits arising from Hong Kong of 
qualifying entity of the Group, Haina Technology Group Limited (“Haina Technology”) were taxed at 8.25%, and 
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong above HK$2 million were taxed at 16.5%.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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8.	 INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation of income tax expense

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Loss) Profit before tax (5,395) 27,166   

Income tax at statutory tax rate applicable in respective tax jurisdictions (154) 7,119
Effect of preferential tax treatments (1,065) (3,195)
Tax exempt revenue (21) (1,002)
Additional tax deduction on research and development expenses (3,706) (4,290)
Non-deductible expenses 3,890 2,238
Unrecognised tax losses 2,012 –
Over-provision in prior year (3,130) –   

Income tax (credit) expense for the year (2,174) 870   

9.	 (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Loss) Profit:
(Loss) Profit attributable to owners of the Company used  

for the purpose of basic (loss) earnings per share (3,147) 26,980   

2022 2021
’000 ’000

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  

the purpose of basic (loss) earnings per share 563,976 517,506   

Diluted (loss) earnings per share is the same as basic (loss) earnings per share as the effect of potential ordinary 
shared is anti-dilutive during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

10.	 DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared by the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend 
been proposed since the end of the reporting period.
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11.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use 
assets

Plant and 
machinery

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 24)

Reconciliation of carrying amount – 
year ended 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021 24,402 7,161 2,538 179 1,383 – 35,663
Additions 11,362 847 289 154 162 – 12,814
Disposals – – (162) (19) – – (181)
Depreciation (10,646) (1,436) (536) (256) (369) – (13,243)
Exchange realignment (2) – – – – – (2)        

At 31 December 2021 25,116 6,572 2,129 58 1,176 – 35,051        

Reconciliation of carrying amount 
– year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022 25,116 6,572 2,129 58 1,176 – 35,051
Additions 43,769 50 325 195 131 21,589 66,059
Disposals – – (32) – – – (32)
Depreciation (10,685) (1,478) (504) (92) (311) – (13,070)
Exchange realignment 29 – – – – – 29        

At 31 December 2022 58,229 5,144 1,918 161 996 21,589 88,037        

At 31 December 2021
Cost 48,382 21,283 3,278 974 2,354 – 76,271
Accumulated depreciation (23,266) (14,711) (1,149) (916) (1,178) – (41,220)        

25,116 6,572 2,129 58 1,176 – 35,051        

At 31 December 2022
Cost 91,878 14,501 3,053 1,169 2,485 21,589 134,675
Accumulated depreciation (33,649) (9,357) (1,135) (1,008) (1,489) – (46,638)        

58,229 5,144 1,918 161 996 21,589 88,037        

The Group leases various office premises for its daily operations and business development and lease terms range 
from 2 to 6 years (2021: 2 to 6 years).

The Group has obtained the land use rights certificates for all leasehold lands. At the end of the reporting period, 
the remaining lease term of lands is about 49 years (2021: Nil).
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12.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development 
costs

RMB’000

Reconciliation of carrying amount – year ended 31 December 2021
At 1 January 2021 4,957
Additions 3,650
Amortisation (3,276)  

At 31 December 2021 5,331  

Reconciliation of carrying amount – year ended 31 December 2022
At 1 January 2022 5,331
Additions 2,977
Amortisation (3,083)  

At 31 December 2022 5,225  

At 31 December 2021
Cost 20,550
Accumulated amortisation (15,219)  

5,331  

At 31 December 2022
Cost 23,527
Accumulated amortisation (18,302)  

5,225  

Development costs represented costs incurred at the development phase of certain new technologies for the 
production of machines for disposable hygiene products, which are capitalised and amortised (if applicable) in 
accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2.



122 Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

13.	 EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FVOCI

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity instrument, fair value

At the beginning of the reporting period 14,267 –
Addition – 16,513
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (1,712) (2,246)
Derecognition of financial assets at FVOCI upon disposal (12,555) –   

At the end of the reporting period – 14,267   

On 28 July 2021, Haina Technology, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share 
subscription agreement with an independent third party to subscribe 3,960 shares or 19.8% equity interest of a 
private limited liability company established in Hong Kong, which is an automated production and logistics 
technology solutions provider, at a cash consideration of HK$19,800,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB16,513,000).

On 13 December 2022, Haina Technology entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third 
party to dispose of its unlisted equity instrument, at a consideration of HK$14,200,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB12,555,000), which was also the fair value as at the date of disposal as the investment no longer meets the 
investment objective of the Group. The transaction was completed on 30 December 2022. The unlisted equity 
instrument was then derecognised and the corresponding accumulated fair value loss of HK$5,600,000 (equivalent 
to approximately RMB3,958,000) has been transferred to accumulated profits upon derecognition.

The consideration will be settled by three instalments in accordance with the sale and purchase agreement, the first 
instalment of HK$5,200,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,577,000) was received by the Group during the year 
and the remaining balances of consideration of HK$9,000,000 will be settled by two equal instalments of 
HK$4,500,000 each and are payable before 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2023 respectively. As at 31 December 
2022, the remaining balances of consideration of HK$9,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB7,978,000) was 
recognised as consideration receivable included in other receivables as disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Details of fair value measurement of financial assets are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14.	 GOODWILL

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost and carrying amount
At the beginning of the reporting period and at the end of  

the reporting period 1,369 1,369   

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Hangzhou Haina at cash consideration of 
RMB10,200,000 in July 2018. The excess of the fair value consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair 
values of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately RMB1,369,000 was 
recognised as goodwill.

The Group’s management considers Hangzhou Haina represents a separate cash-generating unit for the purpose of 
goodwill impairment testing. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the 
relevant cash-generating unit with reference to a value-in-use calculation based on the cash flow projection of 
Hangzhou Haina. The calculation used cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved by the directors of 
the Company covering a 3-year period. Cash flows beyond the 3-year period have been extrapolated using a 2.0% 
(2021: 2.0%) long-term growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does 
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation are as follows:

2022 2021

Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0%
Discount rate (pre-tax) 17.0% 15.2%   

The management of the Group performed impairment test for the goodwill and determined such goodwill was not 
impaired. Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions will not lead to the goodwill impairment loss.

15.	 DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND USE RIGHTS

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposit paid for acquisition of land use rights – 21,530   

The amount represents the security deposit paid to Hangzhou City Planning and Natural Resources Bureau Yuhang 
District Municipality*（杭州市規劃和自然資源局余杭分局）(the “Bureau”) to bid for the land use rights of a parcel of 
land (“Hangzhou leasehold land”) located in Hangzhou Qianjiang Economic Development Zone, Hangzhou City, 
Zhejiang Province, the PRC through the listing for sale process in the auction held by the Bureau. During the year 
ended 31 December 2022, the Group has obtained the land use rights certificate for the Hangzhou leasehold land 
and accordingly, the deposit paid has been transferred to right-of-use assets.

*  English name is for identification only.
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16.	 SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Issued/registered 
capital

Proportion ownership interest and 
voting power held by the Company

Principal activities/
place of operation

Legal form of 
corporate existence

Directly Indirectly

Affluent International 
Group Limited

The BVI United States 
Dollar (US$) 1

100% 
(2021:100%)

N/A Investment holding/ 
Hong Kong

Private limited liability 
company

Haina Intelligent 
Development Company 
Limited

The BVI US$1 100% 
(2021:100%)

N/A Inactive/The BVI Private limited liability 
company

Haina Technology Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Trading of machines 
for disposable hygiene 

products and 
investment holding/

Hong Kong

Private limited liability 
company 

Jinjiang Haina The PRC RMB100,000,000 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Design and production 
of machines for 

disposable hygiene 
products/The PRC

Wholly foreign-owned 
enterprise

Hangzhou Haina The PRC RMB20,000,000 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Design and production 
of machines for 

disposable hygiene 
products/The PRC

Private limited liability 
company

晉江市嘉初網絡科技有限
公司 (formerly known as
晉江嘉初進出口貿易 
有限公司) (Jinjiang 
Jiachu Internet 
Technology Co., Ltd.*)

The PRC RMB1,000,000 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Inactive/The PRC Private limited liability 
company

海納智能貿易有限公司 
(Haina Intelligent 
Trading Company 
Limited*)

Hong Kong HK$100 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Inactive/Hong Kong Private limited liability 
company

浙江海納智匯科技有限 
公司 (Zhejiang Haina 
Zhihui Technology Co. 
Ltd*)

The PRC US$10,000,000 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Inactive/The PRC Wholly foreign-owned 
enterprise

浙江海納同創智能科技 
有限公司 (Zhejiang Haina 
Tongchuang Intelligent 
Technology Co. Ltd*)  
(“Haina Tongchuang”)

The PRC RMB100,000,000 N/A 100% 
(2021:100%)

Investment holding/ 
The PRC

Private limited liability 
company

晉江市海佳智能裝備 
有限公司 (Jinjiang 
Haijia Intelligent 
Equipment Co. Ltd*) 
(“Jinjiang Haijia”)

The PRC RMB3,000,000 N/A 80% 
(2021:80%)

Trading of machines 
for disposable hygiene 

products and 
investment holding/The 

PRC

Private limited liability 
company

*  English name is for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding during the year or at the end of the reporting period.
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17.	 INVENTORIES

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 99,828 126,009
Work-in-progress 89,594 140,919
Finished goods 9,453 10,436   

198,875 277,364
Less: Allowance for inventories (1,268) (1,268)   

197,607 276,096   

18.	 EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVPL

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 4,257 8,885   

The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined on the basis of quoted market closing prices available 
on the Stock Exchange at the end of each reporting period.

19.	 DEBT INSTRUMENT AT AMORTISED COST

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted debt instrument, unsecured 35,458 32,679
Less: Allowance for ECL 33 (5,805) (786)    

29,653 31,893    

On 24 January 2021, the Company and Trendzon Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as “Pipeline 
Engineering Holdings Limited”) (the “Issuer”) entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which the Issuer 
has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Company has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the bond in the 
principal amount of HK$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB33,248,000) at the interest rate of 6% per 
annum and with maturity date on 26 January 2022 (the “Bond”) at the subscription price of HK$40,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB33,248,000) (the “Subscription”). On 26 January 2021, the Subscription was 
completed. The Issuer is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its 
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1865). Details of the Subscription are set 
out in the Company’s announcements dated 25 and 26 January 2021.
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19.	 DEBT INSTRUMENT AT AMORTISED COST (continued)

On 25 January 2022, the maturity date of the Bond had been subsequently extended to 25 January 2023. On 3 
March 2023, the Company and the Issuer agreed to further extend the maturity date of the Bond from 25 January 
2023 to 25 July 2023 and also agreed to amend the bond interest rate from 6% to 8% per annum. Save for the 
further extension of the maturity date and interest rate for the further extension period, all the terms and conditions 
of the Bond remain unchanged. Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 25 January 2022 and 3 
March 2023.

The Board was subsequently guaranteed by a deed of corporate guarantee executed by an independent third party 
in favor of the Group on 4 March 2023. The independent third party is a company incorporated in the PRC with 
limited liability and is principally engaged in provision of business services in the PRC.

On 9 March 2023, the interest payment for the Bond of HK$2,400,000 was subsequently fully settled by the Issuer.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance for unlisted debt instrument is set out in 
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 83,726 77,967
Less: Allowance for ECL 33 (7,958) (4,627)    

20(a) 75,768 73,340

Bills receivables 20(b) 1,394 –    

Other receivables
Prepayment to suppliers 3,912 9,264
Other prepaid expenses 4,702 1,804
Consideration receivable 13 7,978 –
Interest receivable from debt instrument at amortised cost 2,009 1,880
Deposits and other receivables 2,939 2,230
Value-added tax (“VAT”) and other tax recoverable 17,115 18,703    

38,655 33,881
Less: Allowance for ECL 33 (400) (44)    

38,255 33,837    

115,417 107,177    
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20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

20(a)	 Trade receivables

Apart from a portion of the contract sum retained by customers to cover the Group’s product quality warranty, 
the Group does not grant credit terms to customers in the sales contract. However, the Group may grant 
credit terms up to 30 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its customers for their processing of billing 
settlement or settlement terms as specified in the contracts for a specific settlement arrangement with 
monthly instalments paid up to 12 months as approved by the management on a case by case basis.

Included in trade receivables at 31 December 2022 was retained sums of approximately RMB30,650,000 
(2021: RMB25,702,000). These are due for collection upon the expiry of product quality warranty period 
(which is usually 12 months from the acceptance by the customer of the machine).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL) based on revenue recognition date at the 
end of reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 30 days 1,900 1,505
31 to 60 days 7,655 2,682
61 to 90 days 7,403 4,040
91 to 180 days 6,673 14,100
181 to 365 days 33,556 27,008
Over 365 days 18,581 24,005   

75,768 73,340   

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL) by due 
date is as follow:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Not yet due 34,400 15,702   

Past due:
Within 30 days 2,756 5,565
31 to 60 days 6,676 3,301
61 to 90 days 369 5,723
91 to 180 days 5,070 9,403
181 to 365 days 17,278 23,384
Over 365 days 9,219 10,262   

41,368 57,638   

75,768 73,340   

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade receivables.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, there was no credit-impaired 
trade receivables except for debtors with gross trade receivables of approximately RMB6,613,000 (2021: 
RMB2,777,000) at 31 December 2022.
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20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

20(b)	 Bills receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the bills receivables are interest-free, guaranteed by banks in PRC and 
have maturities of less than 1 year.

21.	 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Restricted bank deposits are deposits which are placed in the PRC banks as securities for the issuance of bills 
payables (Note 23(b)).

22.	 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts of bank 
balances and cash are denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 68,446 34,977
HK$ 5,306 1,675
US$ 11,844 65,791   

85,596 102,443   

At 31 December 2022, bank balances that were placed with banks in the PRC amounted to approximately 
RMB79,456,000 (2021: approximately RMB99,487,000). Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the 
exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 23(a) 50,600 76,367    

Bills payables 23(b) 29,810 23,400    

Other payables
Salaries payable 5,674 6,390
Contract liabilities – receipt in advance 23(c) 63,534 98,559
Accruals and other payables 19,276 12,916    

88,484 117,865    

168,894 217,632    
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23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

23(a)	 Trade payables

The trade payables are non-interest bearing and the Group is normally granted with credit term up to 180 
days.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on goods receipt date is 
as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 30 days 25,537 43,782
31 to 60 days 12,534 12,274
61 to 90 days 2,542 8,404
91 to 180 days 7,963 9,972
181 to 365 days 1,499 1,619
Over 365 days 525 316   

50,600 76,367   

23(b)	 Bills payables

At the end of the reporting period, the bills payable are interest-free, guaranteed by banks in PRC and have 
maturities of less than six months. The Group’s bills payables are secured by pledge of the Group’s restricted 
bank deposits of RMB22,328,000 (2021: RMB21,700,000).

23(c)	 Contract liabilities – receipt in advance

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same year) 
of contract liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the period 98,559 124,973
Recognised as revenue (78,862) (77,001)
Receipt in advance 43,837 50,587   

At the end of the reporting period 63,534 98,559   

At 31 December 2022, the contract liabilities that are expected to be settled within 12 months are 
approximately RMB63,534,000 (2021: approximately RMB98,559,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a decrease in the overall contract activities, thereby 
decreasing the amount arising from the receipt of advances.
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24.	 LEASES

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Right-of-use assets (Note 11)
Leased properties 14,937 25,116
Leasehold lands 43,292 –   

58,229 25,116   

Lease liabilities
Current 10,592 9,494
Non-current 5,528 16,210   

16,120 25,704   

In addition to the information disclosed in Note 11, the Group had the following amounts relating to leases during 
the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Leased properties 10,208 10,646
Leasehold lands 477 –   

10,685 10,646
Less: capitalised as “construction in progress” (477) –   

10,208 10,646   
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24.	 LEASES (continued)

The present value of lease liabilities is summarised as below:

2022 2021  

Lease
payments

Present 
value

of lease
payments

Lease
payments

Present 
value

of lease
payments

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts payable:
Within 1 year 11,041 10,592 10,364 9,494
More than 1 year but within 2 years 5,606 5,528 11,131 10,682
More than 2 years but within 5 years – – 5,606 5,528     

16,647 16,120 27,101 25,704
Less: future finance charges (527) – (1,397) –     

Total lease liabilities 16,120 16,120 25,704 25,704     

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB32,694,000 (2021: 
RMB11,931,000).

25.	 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans – unsecured 25,000 20,000
Bank revolving loan – unsecured – 19,193   

25,000 39,193   

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed for reporting purpose:
Current 25,000 39,193   
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25.	 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:
2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate borrowings 25,000 20,000
Variable-rate borrowing – 19,193   

25,000 39,193   

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings 
are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 3.5% to 4.5% 3.35% to 4.35%
Variable-rate borrowing – 2.29%

The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

HK$ – 19,193
RMB 25,000 20,000   

25,000 39,193   

All of the bank facilities are subject to the fulfillment of certain covenants which are commonly found in lending 
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Company and subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn 
down facilities would become repayable on demand. In addition, certain of the relevant borrowing entities’ loan 
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at 
any time irrespective of whether the relevant borrowing entities have complied with the covenants and met the 
scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and has made payments according to the 
schedule of the loans and does not consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand 
repayment for so long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details of the Group’s 
management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. At 31 December 2022 
and 2021, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.
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26.	 DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements in the Group’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) for the years were as follows:

Tax losses
Depreciation 

allowance

Accrued 
revenue and 

costs
Intangible 

assets Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 – – (1,074) (743) (1,817)
Credit (Charge) to profit or loss 2,174 – – (56) 2,118      

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 2,174 – (1,074) (799) 301
Credit to profit or loss – 2 – 15 17      

At 31 December 2022 2,174 2 (1,074) (784) 318      

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated financial statements, the following is the analysis of the deferred 
taxation:

Assets Liabilities  
2022 2021 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accrued revenue and costs – – (1,074) (1,074)
Depreciation allowance 2 – – –
Intangible assets – – (784) (799)
Tax losses 2,174 2,174 – –     

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 2,176 2,174 (1,858) (1,873)
Offsetting (2) – 2 –     

2,174 2,174 (1,856) (1,873)     

Amounts expected to be settled:

After 12 months 2,174 2,174 (1,856) (1,873)     

At the end of reporting period, the Group has unused estimated tax losses of approximately RMB27,909,000 (2021: 
RMB14,494,000) arising in the PRC but can be offset against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiary for a 
maximum of 5 years from the year in which the tax loss was incurred.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Year of expiry
2026 14,494 14,494
2027 13,415 –   

27,909 14,494   
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26.	 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred tax assets of approximately RMB2,174,000 (2021: approximately RMB2,174,000) have been recognised in 
respect of such loss and no deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect of the remaining unused tax losses 
of approximately RMB13,415,000 (2021: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payables on the unremitted earnings of the 
Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of the management of the Group, it is probable that the 
earnings will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. The estimated withholding tax effects on the distribution of 
accumulated profits that have been recognised were approximately RMB8,234,000 (2021: RMB7,615,000).

27.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each Note
Number of 

shares HK$
Equivalent to 

RMB’000

Authorised:
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and  

31 December 2022 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 10,695     

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2021 470,004,000 4,700,040 4,315
Issue of shares upon placing (i) 93,972,000 939,720 773     

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and  
31 December 2022 563,976,000 5,639,760 5,088     

Note:

(i)	 On 9 June 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the Company has 
conditionally agreed to place, through the placing agent, up to an aggregate of 94,000,800 placing shares at a placing price 
of HK$0.89 per placing share to not less than six placees who are individual, corporate, institutional investor or other 
investors that are third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons (the “Placing”). The Placing was 
completed on 30 June 2021 and total of 93,972,000 placing shares have successfully been placed. The net proceeds of 
approximately HK$82,791,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB67,971,000) after deducting direct cost of approximately 
HK$844,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB695,000), of which approximately HK$940,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB773,000) was credited to the Company’s equity under share capital and the remaining balance of approximately 
HK$81,851,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB67,198,000) was credited to the Company’s equity under share premium 
account. The Placing shares rank pari passu with all existing shares in all respects.

28.	 ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY

On 1 March 2021, Jinjiang Haina and the non-controlling shareholders of Hangzhou Haina (the “Vendors”), who 
have 49% equity interest in Hangzhou Haina, entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the 
Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and Jinjiang Haina conditionally agreed to purchase the remaining 49% of the 
equity interests of Hangzhou Haina, at an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB12.8 million (the 
“Acquisition”).

The Acquisition was completed on 16 March 2021. Upon completion of the Acquisition, Hangzhou Haina became an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest in Hangzhou 
Haina on the date of acquisition was approximately RMB6,631,000, the Group derecognised non-controlling 
interests of approximately RMB6,631,000 and recognised directly in equity attributable to owners of the Company of 
approximately RMB6,170,000 for the difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid.
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29.	 RESERVES

29(a)	 Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds or consideration from issuance of the Company’s 
shares over their par value.

29(b)	 Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents waiver of amount due to ultimate holding company during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

29(c)	 Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is required to be appropriated from profit after income tax of the entity which established in 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), determined in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations 
in the PRC. Allocation to the statutory reserve shall be approved by the board of directors of the PRC entity. 
The appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of 
the registered capital of the PRC entity. The statutory reserve can be used to make up for losses, expand the 
existing operation or for conversion into capital. The PRC entity may, upon the approval by a resolution of 
shareholders’ general meeting/board of directors’ meeting, convert the statutory reserve into capital in 
proportion to the then existing shareholdings. However, when converting the statutory reserve into capital, 
the balance of such reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25% of the registered capital of 
that entity.

29(d)	 Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the Group’s 
entities that have functional currency different from the presentation currency for consolidation.

29(e)	 Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

Fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the accumulated gains and losses arising on the change in fair 
value of equity instrument designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that is held at the end of the reporting 
period.
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30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pursuant to the Company’s general meeting on 8 May 2020 (the “Date of Adoption”), an ordinary resolution was 
passed to approve and adopt the new share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to participants for their contribution to the Group 
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are 
valuable to the Group and any invested entity. Participants of the scheme include (i) any eligible employee; (ii) any 
director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its 
subsidiaries or any invested entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any 
invested entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any invested entity; (v) any person or entity acting in their 
capacities as advisers or consultants that provides research, development or other technological support to the 
Group or any invested entity; (vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder 
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any invested entity; and (vii) any other group or class of 
Participants from time to time determined by the directors as having contributed or may contribute to the 
development and growth of the Group and any invested entity. The Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from 
the Date of Adoption, unless otherwise terminated or altered.

The total number of shares which may be granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue immediately upon completion of the Share 
Offer (the “10% Limit”) unless the Company seeks the approval of the shareholders in general meeting for 
refreshing the 10% Limit, if applicable. The maximum number of shares issued and issuable to each participant 
under the Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in 
issue as at proposed grant date.

Each grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their 
respective associates, under the Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries shall be subject to approval by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share options 
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or any of their 
respective associates, in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue and with an aggregate value, 
based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month 
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

The offer of grant of share options is accepted upon a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of 
consideration for grant is received by the Company from grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted 
is determinable by the board of directors and commences from the date on which the offer of share options is duly 
accepted by the grantee in accordance with the Scheme.

The subscription price of share options is determinable by the board of directors, and shall not be lower than highest 
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date 
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the 
Company’s shares.

On 21 May 2021, the Company offered to grant a total of 14,000,000 share options at an exercise price of HK$1.14 
per share of the Company to certain eligible participants (the “Grantees”), of which 10,000,000 and 4,000,000 share 
options were respectively granted to the executive directors of the Company and certain employees of the Group, 
pursuant to the Scheme of the Company. The Grantees are entitled, subject to the terms and conditions of the grant 
and upon exercise, to subscribe a total of 14,000,000 ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company.
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30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The movement during the year ended 31 December 2022 and the share option outstanding at 31 December 2022 
are as follows:

Number of share options 

Category of  
the Grantees

Date of grant
(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercise
price
HK$

Vesting date
(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercisable
period
(dd/mm/yyyy)

At
01/01/2022

Granted
during 

the year Exercised
Cancelled/

Lapsed
At

31/12/2022          

Directors
Mr. Hong Yiyuan 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 

– 20/05/2031
2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000
          

4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000          

Mr. Zhang Zhixiong 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000          

Mr. Su Chengya 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000          

Mr. He Ziping 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

500,000 – – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000          

Sub-total 10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000          

Eligible employees 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000
          

Sub-total 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000          

Total 14,000,000 – – – 14,000,000          
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30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The movement during the year ended 31 December 2021 and the share option outstanding at 31 December 2021 
are as follows:

Number of share options 

Category of  
the Grantees

Date of grant
(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercise
price
HK$

Vesting date
(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercisable
period
(dd/mm/yyyy)

At
01/01/2021

Granted
during 

the year Exercised
Cancelled/

Lapsed
At

31/12/2021          

Directors
Mr. Hong Yiyuan 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 

– 20/05/2031
– 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000
          

4,000,000 – – 4,000,000          

Mr. Zhang Zhixiong 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – 2,000,000          

Mr. Su Chengya 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – 2,000,000          

Mr. He Ziping 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

– 500,000 – – 500,000
          

2,000,000 – – 2,000,000          

Sub-total – 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000          

Eligible employees 21/05/2021 1.14 01/01/2024 01/01/2024 
– 20/05/2031

– 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000

01/01/2025 01/01/2025 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

01/01/2026 01/01/2026 
– 20/05/2031

– 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000
          

Sub-total – 4,000,000 – – 4,000,000          

Total – 14,000,000 – – 14,000,000          
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30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The fair values of share options granted to directors and employees on 21 May 2021 are approximately HK$0.355 
and HK$0.360 per option respectively, which are calculated using a Binomial Option Pricing Model by an 
independent professional valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited with the following key inputs:

Share price at the date of grant HK$1.14
Exercise price HK$1.14
Expected volatility 46.42%
Risk-free interest rate 1.10%
Expected dividend yield 6.09%

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair value of the share option. The value of the 
share options is subject to the limitation of the Binomial Option Pricing Model and a number of assumptions which 
are subjective and difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially effect the fair 
value estimate.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, with reference to the fair value of the share options granted, the Group 
recognised HK$1,578,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,356,000) (2021: HK$969,000 (equivalent to 
approximately RMB804,000)) as equity-settled share-based payment expenses. None of the share options was 
exercised.

31.	 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS

31(a)	 Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
following major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised right-of-use assets by incurring lease 
liabilities of approximately RMB11,362,000.
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31.	 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS (continued)

31(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities are as follows:

Dividend 
payables to 

non-
controlling 

shareholders

Interest-
bearing 

borrowing
Lease 

liabilities Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 16,660 – 24,973 41,633

Cash flows, net (16,660) 38,879 (11,931) 10,288
Additions – – 11,362 11,362
Interest paid – 314 1,300 1,614     

At 31 December 2021 and  
1 January 2022 – 39,193 25,704 64,897

Cash flows, net – (15,508) (10,455) (25,963)
Interest paid – 1,315 871 2,186     

At 31 December 2022 – 25,000 16,120 41,120     

32.	 RELATED PARTY/CONNECTED TRANSACTION

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following transactions with related parties:

32(a)	 Related party transaction

There are no other related party transactions during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

32(b)	 Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group

There was no remuneration to members of key management other than the Company’s directors as disclosed 
in Note 7 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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32.	 RELATED PARTY/CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

32(c)	 Connected transactions

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following transactions with persons 
who would be regarded as connected persons as defined in the Listing Rules:

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchase of materials from:
晉江市恒勤機械工貿有限公司(Jinjiang City Hengqin Machinery 

Industry and Trade Limited) (“Hengqin Machinery”) (i), (iii) 6,187 10,543    

晉江市盛榮機械設備有限公司(Jinjiang City Shengrong 
Machinery Equipment Limited) (“Shengrong Machinery”) (ii), (iii) 2,190 2,428    

Notes:

(i)	 Hengqin Machinery is a limited liability company established in the PRC, and is wholly-owned by three relatives of 
one of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company.

(ii)	 Shengrong Machinery is a limited liability company established in the PRC, and is a wholly-owned by a relative of 
one of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company.

(iii)	 These connected transactions constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Listing Rules. Further 
disclosures about these transactions have been disclosed in the Report of Directors of the annual report of the 
Company.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of unlisted debt instrument at amortised cost, listed equity 
securities at FVPL, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash and interest-bearing borrowings. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, which arise 
directly from its business activities.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

At 31 December 2022

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
assets at 

FVPL Total
Assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed equity securities at FVPL – 4,257 4,257
Unlisted debt instrument at amortised cost 29,653 – 29,653
Trade and other receivables 89,688 – 89,688
Restricted bank deposits 22,328 – 22,328
Bank balances and cash 85,596 – 85,596    

Total 227,265 4,257 231,522    

Financial
liabilities at

amortised costs
Liabilities RMB’000

Trade and other payables 99,686
Interest-bearing borrowing 25,000  

Total 124,686  
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

At 31 December 2021

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost

Financial 
assets at 

FVPL
Designated 

FVOCI Total
Assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity instrument at FVOCI – – 14,267 14,267
Listed equity securities at FVPL – 8,885 – 8,885
Unlisted debt instrument at amortised cost 31,893 – – 31,893
Trade and other receivables 77,406 – – 77,406
Restricted bank deposits 21,700 – – 21,700
Bank balances and cash 102,443 – – 102,443     

Total 233,442 8,885 14,267 256,594     

Financial
liabilities at

amortised costs
Liabilities RMB’000

Trade and other payables 112,683
Interest-bearing borrowing 39,193  

Total 151,876  

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, equity price 
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written risk management policies and guidelines. 
However, the management meet regularly and co-operate closely with the directors of the Company to identify and 
evaluate risks and generally adopt conservative strategies on its risk management and limit the Group’s exposure to 
these risks to a minimum as follows:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings 
with floating interest rate. The Group’s policy to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. 
The management of the Group will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating and ensure they are 
within reasonable range.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest risks and the Group’s 
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank borrowings.

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 1% in interest rates would decrease/increase the 
Group’s profit before tax by approximately RMB192,000.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had no any bank borrowings with floating interest rate.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 
end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial 
instruments in existence at that date. The 1% increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a 
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, HK$ and US$.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the respective group entities and therefore exposed to foreign currency risk. The net carrying amounts 
of those financial assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets, net
2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ 17,051 70,592   

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s pre-tax results if exchange rates of US$ had 
changed against the functional currencies of the respective group entities by 5% and all other variables were held 
constant at the end of the reporting period.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ 853 3,530   

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at 
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency risk for financial 
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates 
over the year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the Group’s management, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign 
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the years 
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments of trading securities classified as 
listed equity securities at FVPL. In addition, the Group also invested in an unlisted equity instrument for long term 
strategic purposes which had been designated at FVOCI.

The Group’s listed equity investments are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities 
are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared to that of the stock market index 
and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a change of 15% in the relevant stock market index (for listed 
investments), with all other variables held constant, would have changed the Group’s (loss) profit before tax as 
follows:

2022 2021  
Increase 

(decrease) in 
equity price RMB’000

Increase 
(decrease) in 

equity price RMB’000

Changes in the relevant equity price risk 
variable:

Increase 15% 639 15% 1,333
Decrease (15%) (639) (15%) (1,333)  

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the stock market 
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the 
exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s 
investments would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or the 
relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The stated 
changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market index or 
the relevant risk variables over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group’s credit risk is mainly attributable to trade and other receivables, 
debt instrument at amortised cost, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash. The Group limits its 
exposure to credit risk by selecting the counterparties with reference to their past credit history and/or market 
reputation. The Group’s maximum exposure to the credit risk is summarised as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other receivables 89,688 77,406
Unlisted debt instrument at amortised cost 29,653 31,893
Restricted bank deposits 22,328 21,700
Bank balances and cash 85,596 102,443   

227,265 233,442   

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, which is net 
of impairment losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value of any 
collateral held or other credit enhancements.

The Group trades with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit are subject to credit verification procedures.

The Group’s management considers the credit risk in respect of restricted bank deposits and bank balances is 
minimal because the counterparties are authorised financial institutions with high credit ratings.

The Group’s management limits the Group’s exposure to credit risk by taking timely actions once there is any 
indication for recoverability problem of each individual debtor.

The Group’s management also reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debtor, including related and third 
parties, at the end of the reporting period to ensure adequate allowance is made for irrecoverable amount.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 12% (2021: 25%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor and approximately 43% (2021: 48%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest trade debtors.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The ECL 
allowance on trade receivables subject to ECL model which are assessed for individual debtors are approximately 
RMB7,958,000 (2021: RMB4,627,000) on gross amount of approximately RMB83,726,000 (2021: RMB77,967,000) 
at 31 December 2022.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables which are 
assessed using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk characteristics of 
customers at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

At 31 December 2022

Average
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
loss 

allowance
Internal credit rating (Remarks) % RMB’000 RMB’000

Risk Category 1 0.42 14,868 62
Risk Category 2 0.80 2,129 17
Risk Category 3 2.11 60,116 1,266
Risk Category 5 100.00 6,613 6,613    

83,726 7,958    

At 31 December 2021

Average
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
loss 

allowance
Internal credit rating (Remarks) % RMB’000 RMB’000

Risk Category 1 0.62 22,628 141
Risk Category 2 0.74 2,312 17
Risk Category 3 3.37 50,250 1,692
Risk Category 5 100.00 2,777 2,777    

77,967 4,627    
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Remarks:

Risk Category Description

Risk Category 1 The debtor has on-going business relationship with the Group with a good credit history. The 
Group expects the debtor to settle the receivable within one year.

Risk Category 2 The debtor has no recent business relationship with the Group but a good credit history is 
proven from various sources. The Group expects the debtor to settle the receivable within one 
year.

Risk Category 3 The debtor failed to settle on time due to a temporary problem, but the Group expects the 
problem could be resolved and the outstanding amount could be settled in a foreseeable 
future.

Risk Category 4 The counterparty failed to settle the receivables on time and the situation could not be resolved 
in a foreseeable future.

Risk Category 5 There is substantial evidence suggesting the counterparty is defaulted or that the Group could 
not contact the counterparty.

The following table shows the movements in allowance for ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables 
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 4,627 3,289
Increase in allowance, net 3,331 1,338   

At the end of the reporting period 7,958 4,627   

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the significant changes in loss allowance on trade receivables were due 
to the increase in long outstanding balance of certain debtors.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables

The management of the Group considers that the financial assets included in other receivables (except for interest 
receivable for debt instrument at amortised cost) have low credit risk based on its strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other receivables is 
measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL, the management of the Group has taken into account the historical actual credit loss 
experience over the past years and the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
that are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which the counterparties operate, 
in estimating the probability of default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The 
management of the Group considers the ECL of other receivables to be insignificant after taking into account the 
financial position and credit quality of the counterparties. At 31 December 2022, the Group recognised an 
impairment loss on other receivables of approximately RMB400,000 (2021: RMB44,000).

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the years ended 31 
December 2022 and 2021.

The following table shows the movements in allowance for ECL that has been recognised for other receivable during 
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 44 –
Increase in allowance 345 44
Exchange realignment 11 –   

At the end of the reporting period 400 44   

Debt instrument at amortised cost

At 31 December 2022, the investment in debt instrument at amortised cost represents unquoted interest-bearing 
instrument. The management of the Group assessed the credit quality of instrument issuer based on its historical 
payment information (including interest payment), if applicable, financial position of the instrument issuer, and with 
reference to the relevant default probability analysis available in similar market. During the year ended 31 December 
2022, a significant increase in credit risk was identified since the initial recognition of the investment, based on the 
deterioration in credit rating of instrument issuer, and the loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore 
measured at amount equal to life time ECL. Based on the assessment, loss allowance of approximately 
RMB4,810,000 (2021: RMB786,000) was recognised in profit lor loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Debt instrument at amortised cost (continued)

The following table shows the movements in allowance for ECL that has been recognised for debt instrument at 
amortised cost during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Lifetime ECL not
credit impaired 12-month ECL

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 786 –
Increase in allowance 4,810 786
Exchange realignment 209 –   

At the end of the reporting period 5,805 786   

Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient level of cash and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s 
operations and expected expansion. The Group’s primary cash requirements include payments for operating 
expenses and additions or upgrades of plant and equipment and intangible assets. The Group finances its working 
capital requirements mainly by the funds generated from operations.

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on 
contractual undiscounted payments are summarised below:

Total 
carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Less than 
1 year or on 

demand 1-2 years 2-5 years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables 99,686 99,686 99,686 – –
Lease liabilities 16,120 16,647 11,041 5,606 –
Interest-bearing borrowings 25,000 25,000 25,000 – –      

140,806 141,333 135,727 5,606 –      

Total 
carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Less than 
1 year or on 

demand 1-2 years 2-5 years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 112,683 112,683 112,683 – –
Lease liabilities 25,704 27,101 10,364 11,131 5,606
Interest-bearing borrowings 39,193 39,193 39,193 – –      

177,580 178,977 162,240 11,131 5,606      
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34.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in 
these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 
13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

•	 Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date.

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.

•	 Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

a)	 Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets that are measured at fair value

Financial assets Fair value at 31 December
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
techniques and 
key inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Sensitivity of 
unobservable inputs

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at FVPL
Equity securities listed in 

Hong Kong
4,257 8,885 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in 

an active market
N/A N/A

Financial assets at FVOCI
Unlisted equity instrument – 14,267 Level 3 Income approach: 

discounted cash 
flow with: 

(i)	 discount 
rates at 
26%; 

(ii)	 terminal 
growth rate 
at 1% 

(i)	 The higher the 
discount rate, 
the lower the 
fair value;

(ii)	 the higher the 
terminal growth 
rate, the higher 
the fair value

(i)	 if discount rate increase 
/ decrease 1%, all other 
variables constant, the 
fair value of unlisted 
equity investment would 
decrease / increase by 
RMB1,259,000;

(ii)	 if terminal growth rate 
increase / decrease 1%, 
all other variables 
constant, the fair value 
of unlisted equity 
investment would 
increase / decrease by 
RMB662,000
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34.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

a)	 Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets that are measured at fair value (continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out 
of Level 3 fair value measurements during the year, except for the derecognition of equity instrument at 
FVOCI during the year. The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised 
as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

b)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other than fair value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost using the discounted cash flows analysis. The management of the Group 
considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in 
the consolidated statement of financial position approximate their fair values.

35.	 LITIGATION AND CLAIM

(i)	 In January 2021, a customer of Hangzhou Haina (the “Plaintiff 1”) submitted an application for civil case 
proceedings at Hangzhou City Lin’an District People’s Court*（杭州市臨安區人民法院）(the “Lin’an Court”) 
for claiming approximately RMB2,000,000 from Hangzhou Haina since two machines of disposable medical 
face mask purchased from Hangzhou Haina in 2020 did not satisfy the quality requirements under the duly 
signed sales contract (the “Claim 1”). Based on the legal opinion of the Group’s PRC lawyers, the directors 
of the Company opined that an outflow of economic benefits is probable and therefore provision for the Claim 
1 of approximately RMB2,000,000 has been provided during the year ended 31 December 2020.

On 25 August 2021, a civil judgement issued by the Lin’an Court was received by Hangzhou Haina, pursuant 
to which Hangzhou Haina was not liable to the Claim 1. The Plaintiff 1 has subsequently filed an appeal with 
Hangzhou City Intermediate People’s Court*（杭州市中級人民法院）(the “Intermediate Court”).

On 24 March 2022, a civil judgement issued by the Intermediate Court that rejected the appeal of the  
Plaintiff 1 and upheld the civil judgement of the Lin’an Court. Having taken into consideration of the legal 
opinion of the Group’s PRC lawyers, the directors of the Company have adjusted such event after the 
reporting period and accordingly, a reversal of provision for the Claim 1 of approximately RMB2,000,000 had 
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(ii)	 In August 2021, a customer of Hangzhou Haina (the “Plaintiff 2”) submitted an application for civil case 
proceedings at Hangzhou City Yuhang District People’s Court*（杭州市余杭區人民法院）for claiming 
approximately RMB3,490,000 from Jinjiang Haina and Hangzhou Haina since a machine of disposable 
medical face mask purchased from Hangzhou Haina in 2020 did not satisfy the quality requirement under the 
duly signed sales contract (the “Claim 2”). Based on the legal opinion of the Group’s PRC lawyers, the 
directors of the Company are of the opinion that it is unlikely an outflow of economic benefits in respect of 
the Claim 2 and therefore no provision for the Claim 2 was made for the year ended 31 December 2021. Due 
to the change from the summary procedure（簡易程序）to formal procedure（普通程序）, the case was 
subsequently transferred to Hangzhou City Linping District People’s Court*（杭州市臨平區人民法院）(the 
“Linping Court”) for any further proceedings in July 2022.
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35.	 LITIGATION AND CLAIM (continued)

(ii)	 (continued)

On 1 August 2022, a civil judgement issued by Linping Court was received by Hangzhou Haina, pursuant to 
which Hangzhou Haina was liable to pay a claim in total amount of RMB1,600,000 and interest charges of 
approximately RMB114,000 to the Plaintiff 2. The Plaintiff 2 and Hangzhou Haina has subsequently filed an 
appeal with the Intermediate Court.

On 21 November 2022, a civil judgement issued by the Intermediate Court that rejected the appeal of both 
the Plaintiff 2 and Hangzhou Haina and upheld the civil judgement of the Linping Court. The Group has fully 
settled the claim to the Plaintiff 2 in total amount of approximately RMB1,714,000 of which has been 
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.

*	 English name is for identification purpose only.

36.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and growth. The management consider the total 
equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group’s capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and 
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares 
or return capital to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

37.	 COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following capital expenditure commitment:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted but not provided net of deposit paid for
– Construction in progress 245,705 –
– development of intangible assets 27,679 29,197
– acquisition of land use rights – 19,912   

273,384 49,109   
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38.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 77 150
Investment in a subsidiary –* –*    

77 150    

Current assets
Equity instruments at FVPL 4,257 8,885
Debt instrument at amortised cost 29,653 31,893
Other receivables 1,714 1,871
Amounts due from subsidiaries 132,720 142,509
Bank balances and cash 689 1,627    

169,033 186,785    

Current liabilities
Other payables 1,686 1,176
Lease liabilities 79 84
Interest-bearing borrowings – 19,193    

1,765 20,453    

Net current assets 167,268 166,332    

Total assets less current liabilities 167,345 166,482    

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 73    

NET ASSETS 167,345 166,409    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 5,088 5,088
Reserves 38(a) 162,257 161,321    

TOTAL EQUITY 167,345 166,409    

*	 Represent amounts less than RMB1,000.

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 
2023 and signed on its behalf by

Mr. Hong Yiyuan Mr. Zhang Zhixiong
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

38.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

38(a)	 Movement of the reserves

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 121,096 12,559 – (11,974) (1,512) 120,169

Loss for the year – – – – (3,881) (3,881)

Other comprehensive loss:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of the 

Company’s financial statements to 
presentation currency – – – (2,074) – (2,074)       

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (2,074) (3,881) (5,955)       

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Issue of shares upon the placing  

(Note 27(i)) 67,893 – – – – 67,893
Transaction costs attributable to issue of 

shares (Note 27(i)) (695) – – – – (695)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based 

payment expenses (Note 30) – – 804 – – 804
Dividends paid – – – – (20,895) (20,895)       

Total transaction with owners 67,198 – 804 – (20,895) 47,107       

At 31 December 2021 188,294 12,559 804 (14,048) (26,288) 161,321       
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38.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

38(a)	 Movement of the reserves (continued)

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 188,294 12,559 804 (14,048) (26,288) 161,321

Loss for the year – – – – (14,200) (14,200)

Other comprehensive loss:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of the 

Company’s financial statements to 
presentation currency – – – 13,780 – 13,780       

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – 13,780 (14,200) (420)       

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Recognition of equity-settled share-based 

payment expenses (Note 30) – – 1,356 – – 1,356       

Total transaction with owners – – 1,356 – – 1,356       

At 31 December 2022 188,294 12,559 2,160 (268) (40,488) 162,257       

The translation reserve represented foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
Company’s functional currency into the presentation currency.

39.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no significant 
subsequent event subsequent to 31 December 2022.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, 
as extracted from the Company’s annual reports and the accountants’ report as contained in the Prospectus.

As at 31 December
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 96,805 79,722 41,989 46,269 24,405
Current assets 454,858 548,194 515,308  290,270  271,867 
Current liabilities (205,507) (269,583)  (257,580)  (202,121)  (210,150)
Non-current liabilities (7,384) (18,083)  (19,719)  (21,147)  (2,820)      

Net assets 338,772 340,250 279,998  113,271  83,302       

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 338,601 340,080 272,763 99,530 74,226
Non-controlling interests 171 170 7,235 13,741 9,076      

Total equity 338,772 340,250  279,998  113,271  83,302       
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December
RESULTS 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 397,817 392,982 474,259 377,989 337,240      

Gross profit 64,217 84,771 139,268 90,619 76,587      

(Loss) Profit before tax (3,395) 27,166 63,292 36,173 45,132
Income tax expense 2,174 (870) (13,185) (5,085) (5,905)      

(Loss) Profit for the year (3,221) 26,296 50,107 31,088 39,227      

(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (3,147) 26,980 39,953 26,423 38,636
Non-controlling interests (74) (684) 10,154 4,665 591      

(3,221) 26,296 50,107 31,088 39,227      

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

397,817

 474,259 

392,982  377,989 

 337,240 

Revenue (RMB’000)

0

100000

200000

300000

400000

500000

64,217

 139,268 

84,771
 90,619 

 76,587 

Gross profit (RMB’000)

0

30000

60000

90000

120000

150000

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

(3,147)

 39,953 

 26,980  26,423 

 38,636 
(Loss) Profit attributable to owners of the Company (RMB’000)

-5000

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018


